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The Camilla-Zack Community Center District incorporates an area that was 
once a thriving regional center for rural blacks in Middle Georgia. The 
community, which at its height included a cooperative store, health center, 
school, teacher's cottages, and community center, was dedicated to providing 
a more satisfying life for Negroes on the farm. Located on a dirt road lead­ 
ing to Powellton, Georgia, the District is bounded on the west by the county 
road leading to Route 22, and continues .6 miles east on the dirt road. 
South of the dirt road, the boundary extends 400 yards, while north of the 
road, the boundary continues far enough to include the community church.

The Camilla-Zack Country Life Center, as it was originally called, was 
the focal point of the district and was symbolic of the spirit of the commun­ 
ity. Built in 1932 of pine logs taken from the surrounding forest and native 
granite from the county, the structure resembles a log cabin and blends in 
well with the surrounding countryside. With its 550 pine logs and 150 tons 
of granite, the building, including porches, contains over 2,500 square feet 
of usable space.

The exterior of the structure was carefully maintained to retain a 
rustic appearance. The creqsoted logs were unpainted, natural granite bases 
supported the columns of the gabled porch roof, blue and white trim surrounded 
the windows, and the roof of the Center was covered with slate and asbestos 
shingles.

The interior of the one-story building is in keeping with the rustic 
appearance of the exterior of the sturcture. All of the rooms and trimmed 
with natural pine in the form of rustic moulding and exposed timber. The 
doors are of oak and the walls are either of stained plywood and composition 
board, as in the community room, or of plaster. A huge granite fireplace is 
the focal point of the large central community room, and natural cedar posts 
are used as supportive columns in the library and on the front porch. The 
interior includes, in addition to the main community room, two wings which 
contain a kitchen and dining room, library, bedrooms, and a bath.

Surrounding the Center were many subsidiary structures and sites, all 
of them contributing to the welfare of the farm community. Approximately 300 
yards to the rear of the Center was a stream with a spring of clear water. 
Adjacent to the stream, a cement swimming pool was built. Summer camps for 
children utilized this site.

In addition, several buildings, set in the cleared area of the pine 
forest, served the needs of the community. A small cooperative store, built 
from the stone of nearby fields, was constructed in 1930, the first in the 
immediate area. It was located at the entrance of the dirt road, about one- 
half mile from the Camilla-Zack Center. A cafeteria frequented by students 
of the nearby school, was constructed next to the store. Cottages for 
teachers, located near the community school, were also built, the architec­ 
ture in keeping with that of the Center. Next to the Center an attractive 
frame health building, painted white, took care of the health requirements 
of the community. Several chicken houses and a dairy barn were also located 
in the area. A church, built c. 1-879, .by the.-Hubert brothers, served the
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Camilla-Zack Community Center District is remarkable, and perhaps 
unique in that it was a community that thrived during the Depression and, 
most importantly, was built solely by black people for the benefit and bet­ 
terment of themselves and other rural Negroes. While the rest of the country 
was suffering in the throes of the Depression, these blacks in Hancock 
County, Georgia, were quietly prospering through hard work on the land and a 
sense of community spirit that bound them together. Through their collectiv 
efforts, they provided themselves and each other with everything from a 
cooperative store to a woman in charge of Home Beautification.

The seeds of the commuity began just after the Civil War when three 
young freedmen, all brothers-Zack Hubert, David Hubert and Floyd Hubert— 
bought 165 acres of land for which they paid $1,650.00 in three year's time. 
They were the first Negroes in Middle Georgia to purchase land after the War 
After establishing a farm, the brothers led in building a church, which is 
still in use, and a public school. From the example set by these men, other 
Negroes followed and by 1940, 27,000 acres of land were owned by blacks in 
Hancock County.

The descendants and friends of these pioneer blacks continued the tra­ 
dition set by their fathers. The Camilla-Zack Country Life Center was 
constructed early in the 1930 f s and named in honor of Zack and Camilla 
Hubert, who were instrumental in encouraging other blacks to become land­ 
owners and to educate themselves. Built by the Hubert sons and directed by 
Benjamin F. Hubert, president of Georgia State Industrial College at the 
time, the Center was a monument to the perseverance and hard work of these 
and other ex-slaves.

The Center, in addition to providing a valuable community service, 
symbolized all that the blacks in the area hoped for, the continued success 
of themselves and of their children. The members of the community were 
dedicated to making a fuller life for everyone and to furthering ways in 
which farming and farm life could be made more satisfying. An elaborate 
program was set up whereby all members of the community were involved in 
productive and educational classes and conferences. Wholesome and happy 
farming was their goal. To this end, a five-year program was set up to 
improve farm methods, with a man to be in charge of general instruction, in 
addition to a-year-round program of gardening and poultry and dairy projects 
carried on at the Center. Conferences were also held periodically to sug­ 
gest improvements in both economic and social aspects of the community.
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7. Description (continued)

religious needs of the community. Scattered throughout the countryside were th 
well-kept homes of the farmers who patronized the various services offered by 
the establishments in the District.

The Camilla-Zack Community Center District thrived during the years of the 
Depression and throughout the 1940's and 1950's. Recently, however, it has 
fallen into disuse s as many of the small farms failed in the wake of modern 
developments. Many of the buildings in the district, once picturesque and 
attractive, have fallen into decay; and some, such as the health center and the 
school, are no longer in existence.

8. Significance (continued)

It was hoped that every man who worked on a farm could eventually own his own 
property.

For several years, the District was the site of a summer school for black 
rural teachers. For a one-month period, the teachers learned how to direct the 
community life of their people. The gcoup included teachers from as many as 
twenty surrounding counties.

The Camilla-Zack Community better known as the Log Cabin Community, receivei 
high acclaim from both black and white leaders on State and regional levels and 
was visited by various dignitaries; including Governor Herman Talmadge. The 
District was pointed out as an example to Southern rural blacks.of what was 
possible with hard work and a will to succeed.

The Camilla-Zack Community Center District represents a significant develop 
ment in the history of blacks in the South. With a desire to help themselves 
and with a belief in the benefits of community involvement^ , these blacks in 
Hancock County formed a close-knit, practically self-sufficient community. The 
goal of the community, to provide for all aspects of country life—social as 
well as economic—was realized with careful planning by the leaders of the grou; 
The Camilla-Zack Community deserves recognition as a prosperous and satisfied 
rural black farm district that was able to succeed at a time when so many 
blacks, as well as whites, were unable to maintain a satisfactory standard of 
living.
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CAMILLA-ZACK COMMUNITY CENTER DISTRICT

Boundary Clarification;

Camilla-Zack Community Center District is located northeast of Sparta via 
State Road 22 to road S2131. This district area, comprising approximately 165 
acres, begins at the intersection of road S2131 and continues for .6 mile 
approximately % mile on either side of an unnamed dirt road that leads eastward 
to Powellton.

Elizabeth Z. Macgregor
Architectural Historian
Historic Preservation Section
Department of Natural Resources
270 Washington Street, S.W., Room 703C
Atlanta, Georgia 30334

October 21, 1974
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